6962,1-1

6967,1-1

No. 69621-1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

CHRISTOPHER MICHAEL SMITH,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MAUREEN M. CYR
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

When Christopher Smith pled guilty in 1998 to one count of possession of depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct, he was explicitly told he would not have to register as a sex offender. Eight years later, the Legislature amended the statute and made the crime a registrable offense. When Mr. Smith failed to comply with the myriad requirements of registration, he was convicted of two counts of failure to register as a sex offender.

In the 23 years since the Legislature adopted the Community

Protection Act, the sex offender registration requirements have become more and more onerous and the community notification provisions more and more invasive. For example, homeless offenders must now report weekly in person to the sheriff and keep an "accurate accounting" of their whereabouts to provide to law enforcement.

Personal information about even the lowest-risk offenders is now readily available to anyone on the Internet for any reason. The law imposes substantial restraints on offenders that are excessive in relation to the Legislature's stated aim of protecting the public from high-risk offenders. The statute is therefore "punitive" in violation of the Ex Post Facto Clause as applied to Mr. Smith.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- Subjecting Mr. Smith to the requirements and penalties of the sex offender registration and community notification law violated the Ex Post Facto Clause of the federal constitution.
- Subjecting Mr. Smith to the requirements and penalties of the sex offender registration and community notification law violated the Ex Post Facto Clause of the state constitution.

C. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

In State v. Ward, 123 Wn.2d 488, 869 P.2d 1062 (1994), the Washington Supreme Court held that the sex offender registration and community notification law did not violate the Ex Post Facto Clause when applied to offenders who committed their underlying offenses prior to the effective date of the statute, because the law did not impose a significant additional burden on offenders or a significant disability or restraint. In the 20 years since the Ward decision, the burdens imposed on offenders subject to the law have become much more oppressive and personally invasive and are excessive in relation to the Legislature's stated purpose of assisting law enforcement to regulate high-risk offenders. Does applying the law and its penalties to Mr. Smith violate the Ex Post Facto Clause?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Facts of offense.

On March 10, 1998, Christopher Smith pled guilty to one count of possession of depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct, former RCW 9.68A.070 (1990). CP 62-72. The crime occurred on October 25, 1997. CP 66. According to the affidavit of probable cause, Mr. Smith, who was then 24 years old, possessed photographs of a 16-year-old girl engaged in sexually explicit conduct. CP 48. At the time of the crime, possession of depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct was not classified as a "sex offense" for purposes of the sex offender registration statute. See former RCW 9A.44.130(6) (1996); former RCW 9.94A.030(33) (1996).

On the guilty plea statement, the section explaining sex offender registration requirements was explicitly crossed out. CP 65; see RCW 10.01.200 (requiring guilty plea form to include written notice of registration requirements when person pleads guilty to "sex offense"). A similar paragraph on the judgment and sentence was also crossed out. CP 56. Mr. Smith understandably believed he would never be required to register as a sex offender as a result of his guilty plea and

later explained this was "the main issue with me signing the plea agreement with the prosecutor." RP 10.

Despite Mr. Smith's reasonable expectations, several years later the law changed and he was now told he must register as a sex offender. In 2006, the statutory definition of "sex offense" was expanded to include the crime of possession of depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct. Laws 2006, ch. 139, § 5. On June 15, 2007, Mr. Smith was notified in writing of the sex offender registration requirements. CP 130-34. He began to comply with them. CP 120-21.

In 2009, Mr. Smith became homeless. CP 182. From May through October 2009, he reported weekly in person to the sheriff's office as required for homeless offenders. CP 182; see RCW 9A.44.130(5)(b) ("A person who lacks a fixed residence must report weekly, in person, to the sheriff of the county where he or she is registered."). But from October 2009 through October 2010, Mr. Smith did not report in person as required. CP 182, 285.

On October 27, 2010, Mr. Smith once again registered with the sheriff's office, reporting a new address in Marysville. CP 143. He signed another written notification of the registration requirements. CP

118-19. On March 20, 2011, police did a registration check at the residence. CP 143. Two other residents told police Mr. Smith no longer lived there. CP 143-44. As of April 14, 2011, Mr. Smith had not updated his address with the sheriff's office. CP 144.

Mr. Smith was charged with two separate counts of failure to register as a sex offender, under two different cause numbers. CP 33, 285. For the first count, Mr. Smith was charged with failing to report weekly in person to the sheriff's office as a homeless offender between October 2009 and October 2010. CP 285. For the second count, he was charged with failing to provide timely written notice to the sheriff after leaving his fixed residence in March 2011. CP 33.

The two charges were consolidated and Mr. Smith agreed to a stipulated bench trial. CP 29-142, 175-284. He agreed to the facts as alleged by the State but maintained that the statute was unconstitutional as applied to him. RP 5-6. Requiring him to register as a sex offender, and convicting him when he did not comply with the requirements, violated the Ex Post Facto Clause because the predicate offense of possessing depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct was not a registrable offense at the time he committed the crime. RP 5-6. Mr. Smith explained to the court that at the time he was convicted of

the underlying offense, he was told he would not have to register as a sex offender. RP 10.

The court was sympathetic to Mr. Smith's predicament. RP 11-12. Nonetheless, the court found him guilty of the two counts as charged. RP 12-13; CP 14-24, 160-70.

2. <u>History of Washington's sex offender registration</u> and community notification law.

In 1990, the Legislature passed the Community Protection Act. Laws 1990, ch. 3. Part four of the Act provides for the registration of adult and juvenile sex offenders. Laws 1990, ch. 3, §§ 401–09. The requirements for sex offender registration are codified at RCW 9A.44.130-.145.

Also as part of the Act, the Legislature authorized public officials to release information to the public about sex offenders.

Public agencies are authorized to release relevant and necessary information regarding sex offenders when the release of the information is necessary for public protection.

Laws 1990, ch. 3, § 117. The authorization for release of information about sex offenders to the public is codified at RCW 4.24.550.

Since 1990, the Legislature has amended the law numerous times, gradually expanding its application and the burdens and affirmative disabilities it imposes on offenders.

Since its original passage in 1990, the statute has required any person found to have committed, or who has been convicted of, a "sex offense" to register with the county sheriff. RCW 9A.44.130(1). An offender is required to provide the sheriff with his or her: (a) name and any aliases used; (b) residential address or, if the person lacks a fixed residence, where he or she plans to stay; (c) date and place of birth; (d) place of employment; (e) crime for which convicted; (f) date and place of conviction; (g) social security number; (h) photograph; and (i) fingerprints. RCW 9A.44.130(2).

Initially, offenders were required to register within 45 days of establishing residence in Washington, or if a current resident, within 30 days of release from confinement. Former 9A.44.130(2) (1990).

Under the original law, an offender who changed his or her residence was required to notify the sheriff in writing of the new address within 10 days. Former 9A.44.130(3) (1990).

The current law is much more burdensome. It requires offenders who change their residence within the same county to

provide, by certified mail or in person, signed written notice of the change of address to the sheriff within three business days of moving. RCW 9A.44.130(4)(a). Offenders who move to a new county must register with the new county sheriff within three business days of moving and must provide the county sheriff with whom they last registered, signed written notice, by certified mail or in person, of the change of address. RCW 9A.44.130(4)(b). Low-risk offenders must verify their current residence by responding to annual certified mail inquiries made by law enforcement and high-risk offenders by responding to quarterly inquiries. RCW 9A.44.135. Law enforcement must make reasonable attempts to locate any sex offender who fails to return the verification form or who cannot be located at the registered address. RCW 9A.44.135(2).

The initial legislation did not address offenders who lacked a fixed residence. In 1999, the Legislature amended the statute to require homeless offenders to provide written notice to the sheriff of the county where he or she last registered within 14 days after ceasing to have a fixed residence. Laws 1999, sp. s. ch. 6, § 2. The amendment also required homeless offenders to report monthly, in person, to the sheriff

if he or she was a level I offender, and weekly if he or she was a level II or III offender. Id.

The requirements for homeless offenders have also become more onerous over time. In 2001, the Legislature amended the statute to require homeless offenders to provide written notice to the sheriff of the county where he or she last registered within 48 hours after ceasing to have a fixed residence. Laws 2001, ch. 169, § 1. In addition, *all* homeless offenders, including level I offenders, are now required to report weekly in person to the sheriff's office. RCW 9A.44.130(5)(b). The current statute further requires homeless offenders to "keep an accurate accounting of where he or she stays during the week and provide it to the county sheriff upon request." RCW 9A.44.130(5)(b).

An offender who knowingly fails to comply with any of the requirements of the sex offender registration statute is guilty of the crime of failure to register as a sex offender. RCW 9A.44.132. The penalties for the crime have become more severe over time. Under the initial law, a person who knowingly failed to comply with any of the requirements was guilty of a class C felony if the predicate offense was a class A felony, and a gross misdemeanor for any other kind of

¹ The current requirement is three business days. RCW 9A.44.130(5)(a).

predicate crime. Former 9A.44.130(6) (1990). In 1997, the Legislature amended the statute to provide that a person who failed to comply with the registration requirements was guilty of a class C felony if the predicate crime was any kind of felony, and a gross misdemeanor if the predicate crime was not a felony. Laws 1997, ch. 340, § 3. Under current law, failure to register is a class C felony if the predicate crime is any kind of felony and it is the offender's first or second conviction for failure to register. RCW 9A.44.132(1)(a). It is a class B felony if the person was convicted twice before for failure to register. RCW 9A.44.132(b). The crime is still a gross misdemeanor if the predicate offense is not a felony. RCW 9A.44.132(2).

The Legislature has also broadened the statute to include more kinds of offenders. In 1997, the Legislature added offenders convicted of a kidnapping offense to those subject to registration and community notification. Laws 1997, ch. 113, § 3. In 2006, the Legislature added offenders convicted of the crime of possession of depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct. Laws 2006, ch. 139, § 5.

In 1998, the Legislature added students or persons employed in the state but living elsewhere to the group of sex offenders required to register. Laws 1998, ch. 220, § 1. In 2005, the Legislature passed further legislation concerning sex and kidnapping offenders in schools. Laws 2005, ch. 380, § 1. Any adult or juvenile required to register must notify the sheriff of his or her intent to attend a public or private school, and the sheriff has the responsibility to promptly inform the principal of the school. RCW 9A.44.138(1). The principal, in turn, must disclose the information on Level II and Level III offenders to every teacher of the student and to any other personnel the principal believes should be aware of the student's background. RCW 9A.44.138(2)(a). For level I offenders, the principal must provide the information received only to personnel who, in the principal's judgment, should be aware of the student's record. RCW 9A44.138(2)(b).

Finally, an offender's duty to register extends for a significant period of time. For offenders convicted of a class A felony, the duty to register never ends. RCW 9A.44.140. For offenders convicted of a class B felony, the duty ends automatically after 15 years if the offender spends all of that time in the community without being convicted of a disqualifying offense, and for offenders convicted of a class C felony, the duty ends after 10 consecutive years in the community. Id. Any offender, however, except those determined to be

a sexually violent predator or convicted as an adult of a sex offense or kidnapping offense that is a class A felony and that was committed with forcible compulsion, may petition the court for relief from registration after spending 10 consecutive years in the community without committing a disqualifying offense. RCW 9A.44.142. The petitioner bears the burden to establish by clear and convincing evidence that he or she is sufficiently rehabilitated to warrant removal from the registry. RCW 9A.44.142(4)(a).

Just as the sex offender registration requirements have become more onerous, so have the community notification procedures become more personally invasive and increasingly divorced from the underlying aim of protecting the community from actual risk. As originally enacted, the public notification statute provided little guidance to local officials in deciding what kind of information about sex offenders to disseminate to the public but required the information be "relevant" and "necessary." Former 4.24.550 (1990). The law did not initially specify a notification system, but most jurisdictions in the state followed the guidelines developed by the Washington Association of Sheriffs and Police Chiefs (WASPC) to determine what actions to take regarding community notification. Washington State Institute for

Public Policy, Washington State's Community Notification Law: 15

Years of Change (Feb. 2006), available at:

http://www.wsipp.wa.gov/rptfiles/06-02-1202.pdf [hereinafter

"Community Notification Law"]. These guidelines established three levels of notification based on the individual's perceived risk to reoffend:

- Level I (low risk): Information (including a photograph) may be shared with other law enforcement agencies.
- Level II (moderate risk): Includes the actions of Level I, and, in addition, schools, neighbors, and community groups may be notified of an offender's release.
- Level III (high risk): Press releases may be issued in addition to the actions within Level I and Level II.

Id.

In the original legislation, no time frame was specified for community notification. Former RCW 4.24.550 (1990). But following an incident in the state where neighbors did not learn about a high-risk sex offender until shortly before he moved to the area, the 1994 Legislature directed that whenever possible law enforcement inform the public at least 14 days prior to the offender's release. Laws 1994, ch. 129, § 2; Community Notification Law, supra.

In 1997, the Legislature significantly modified the notification law to establish a more consistent statewide approach. Laws 1997, ch.

364, § 1. The 1997 legislation directed that a consistent means be used to determine a sex offender's risk to the community as well as a uniform notification process. <u>Id</u>. This work was done by a large multi-disciplinary group and resulted in adoption of the Washington State Sex Offender Risk Level Classification Tool, new notification considerations, notification formats, and suggested protocols for community meetings. <u>Community Notification Law</u>, <u>supra</u>.

The three risk levels and corresponding notification parameters were adjusted as follows:

- Level I (low risk): law enforcement shall share information with other appropriate law enforcement agencies and may disclose, upon request, relevant, necessary, and accurate information to any victim or witness and to any individual community member who lives near the residence where the offender resides, expects to reside, or is regularly found.
- Level II (moderate risk): law enforcement may also disclose relevant, necessary, and accurate information to public and private schools, child care centers, family daycare providers, businesses and organizations that serve primarily children, women, or vulnerable adults, and neighbors and community groups near the residence where the offender resides, expects to reside, or is regularly found.
- Level III (high risk): in addition to the disclosures as a Level II, law enforcement may also disclose relevant, necessary, and accurate information to the public at large.

Laws 1997, ch. 364, § 1 (codified at RCW 4.24.550(3)).

Although these community notification procedures were invasive, none of them compared with the radical change that occurred when the Legislature directed WASPC to create a statewide registered sex offender website in 2002. Laws 2002, ch. 118, § 1; see http://ml.waspc.org. After that, the dissemination of information about sex offenders to the public increased exponentially. The Legislature directed that the website must contain each offender's name, relevant criminal convictions, address by hundred block, physical description, and photograph. Laws 2002, ch. 118, § 1 (codified at RCW 4.25.550(5)(a)). The website must also provide mapping capabilities that display the sex offender's address by hundred block on a map, and allow citizens to search for registered sex offenders by county, city, zip code, last name, type of conviction, and address by hundred block. Id.

Initially, the website was to post only information about Level III registered sex offenders, i.e., those with the highest risk of reoffense. Laws 2002, ch. 118, § 1. But in 2003, the Legislature declared that all level II sex offenders shall also be added to the website. Laws 2003, ch. 217, § 1. In 2005, the Legislature added registered kidnapping offenders to the list of those included. Laws 2005, ch. 228, § 1. And in 2008, the Legislature decided that all level I

sex offenders shall also be included "during the time they are out of compliance with registration requirements under RCW 9A.44.130."

Laws 2008, ch. 98, § 1. The same information and citizen access provided for Level III offenders is also provided for Level II offenders, Level I offenders while they are "out of compliance," and kidnapping offenders. RCW 4.24.550(5)(a).

Thus, personal information about even low-risk offenders and their whereabouts is now available around the clock to anyone with access to the Internet. The words "Non-Compliant" in red letters are placed next to the photographs of offenders who have not complied with all of the registration requirements. Members of the public can even sign up for email alerts and to "track this offender."²

Needless to say, the scope of the Community Protection Act has expanded significantly since it was first enacted in 1990, and since the Washington Supreme Court upheld the constitutionality of the Act in State v. Ward, 123 Wn.2d 488, 869 P.2d 1062 (1994).

² http://www.icrimewatch.net/register.php?AgencyID=54528.

E. ARGUMENT

Applying the Community Protection Act to Mr. Smith violates the state and federal Ex Post Facto Clauses

The Ex Post Facto Clauses of the state and federal constitutions forbid the State from enacting any law that imposes punishment for an act which was not punishable when committed or increases the quantum of punishment annexed to the crime when it was committed.

Ward, 123 Wn.2d at 496; Weaver v. Graham, 450 U.S. 24, 28-29, 101

S. Ct. 960, 67 L. Ed. 2d 17 (1981); U.S. Const. art. I, § 10; Const. art. I, § 23.

"'Critical to relief under the *Ex Post Facto* Clause is not an individual's right to less punishment, but the lack of fair notice and governmental restraint when the legislature increases punishment beyond what was prescribed when the crime was consummated." In re Pers. Restraint of Powell, 117 Wn.2d 175, 184, 814 P.2d 635 (1991) (quoting Weaver, 450 U.S. at 30). The lack of fair notice caused by retroactive application of the law is particularly salient here. When Mr. Smith pled guilty to the underlying crime in 1998, he was explicitly told he would *not* have to register as a sex offender. CP 56, 65; RP 10. In fact, that was a key factor in his decision to plead guilty. RP 10.

A law violates the ex post facto prohibition if it aggravates a crime or makes it greater than it was when committed; permits imposition of a different or more severe punishment than was permissible when the crime was committed; or, changes the legal rules to permit less or different testimony to convict the offender than was required when the crime was committed. State v. Edwards, 104 Wn.2d 63, 70-71, 701 P.2d 508 (1985); Calder v. Bull, 3 U.S. 386, 390, 3 Dall. 386, 1 L. Ed. 648 (1798). Legislation violates the provision if it (1) is substantive, as opposed to merely procedural; (2) is retrospective (applies to events which occurred before its enactment); and (3) disadvantages the offender. Ward, 123 Wn.2d at 498; Weaver, 450 U.S. at 29; Collins v. Youngblood, 497 U.S. 37, 111 L. Ed. 2d 30, 110 S. Ct. 2715 (1990). Finding a violation turns upon whether the law changes legal consequences of acts completed before its effective date. Edwards, 104 Wn.2d at 71; Weaver, 450 U.S. at 31.

A retroactive law "disadvantages the offender" if it "alters the standard of punishment which existed under prior law." Ward, 123 Wn.2d at 498-99. The focus of the inquiry is whether the law constitutes punishment." Id.

In <u>Ward</u>, our supreme court assumed that the Community

Protection Act is substantive as opposed to procedural. <u>Id</u>. In addition, in this case, it is unquestionably retroactive, as Mr. Smith is now subject to the requirements of the Act although it did not apply to him at the time he committed his underlying offense. Thus, the question is whether the Act "constitutes punishment" as applied to Mr. Smith. Id.

In determining whether a law "constitutes punishment" for ex post facto purposes, the Court first considers the Legislature's express purpose in adopting the law. In enacting the Community Protection Act, the Legislature stated its intent was "to 'assist local law enforcement agencies' efforts to protect their communities by regulating sex offenders by requiring sex offenders to register with local law enforcement agencies as provided in [RCW 9A.44.130]."

Ward, 123 Wn.2d at 499 (quoting Laws 1990, ch. 3, § 401) (emphasis in Ward). In Ward, the court concluded the Legislature's stated purpose was regulatory as opposed to punitive. Ward, 123 Wn.2d at 499.

But the Court must also consider whether the law has a punitive *effect* that outweighs the Legislature's stated intent. <u>Id</u>. In determining whether the effect of a law is ultimately punitive as opposed to

regulatory, the Court considers the factors set forth by the United States Supreme Court in Kennedy v. Mendoza-Martinez, 372 U.S. 144, 83 S. Ct. 554, 9 L. Ed. 2d 644 (1963). Id. Those factors are (1) whether the sanction involves an affirmative disability or restraint; (2) whether it has historically been regarded as punishment; (3) whether it comes into play only on a finding of *scienter*; (4) whether its operation will promote the traditional aims of punishment, i.e., retribution and deterrence; (5) whether the behavior to which it applies is already a crime; (6) whether an alternative purpose to which it may rationally be connected is assignable for it; and (7) whether it appears excessive in relation to the alternative purpose assigned. Ward, 123 Wn.2d at 499-500; Mendoza-Martinez, 372 U.S. at 168-69. The relevant factors in this context are (1), (2), (4), and (7). Ward, 123 Wn.2d at 500-10.

Applying those factors to the Community Protection Act, this

Court must conclude the Act is impermissibly punitive as applied to

Mr. Smith.

1. The Act imposes a significant affirmative disability and restraint on offenders.

The burdens imposed by the sex offender registration and community notification statute are significantly more onerous and disabling than in 1994 when the Washington Supreme Court issued its

opinion in <u>Ward</u>. In <u>Ward</u>, the court concluded that registration imposed no significant additional burdens on offenders. 123 Wn.2d at 500-01. That was because providing the information required, such as name, address, date of birth, and place of employment, was not in itself burdensome, and because that information was already generally available to law enforcement. <u>Id</u>. Also, the "physical act of registration" created no affirmative disability because "[s]ex offenders are free to move within their community or from one community to another, provided they comply with the statute's registration requirements." <u>Id</u>. Also, "it is inconceivable that filling out a short form with eight blanks creates an affirmative disability." <u>Id</u>.

These conclusions must be re-examined. When the Act was first passed, offenders who changed their residence were required to notify the sheriff in writing of the new address within 10 days. Former 9A.44.130(3) (1990). Now, offenders who move must notify the sheriff by certified mail or in person of the new address within three business days. RCW 9A.44.130(4)(a). In addition, offenders who move to a new county must register with the new county sheriff within three business days of moving and must provide the county sheriff with whom they last registered, signed written notice, by certified mail or in

person, of the change of address. RCW 9A.44.130(4)(b). Also, low-risk offenders must verify their current residence by responding to annual certified mail inquiries made by law enforcement and high-risk offenders by responding to quarterly inquiries. RCW 9A.44.135.

More important, the burdens on homeless offenders are much more substantial. All homeless offenders, regardless of their risk classification, must report weekly in person to the sheriff's office.

RCW 9A.44.130(5)(b). A homeless offender must also "keep an accurate accounting of where he or she stays during the week and provide it to the county sheriff upon request." RCW 9A.44.130(5)(b).

The threat of prosecution for offenders who do not comply with the Act's complex and ever-changing requirements is also a significant restraint. Initially, a person who knowingly failed to comply with the Act's requirements was guilty of, at most, a class C felony, and only if the person's underlying offense was a class A sex offense; others who violated the registration requirements were guilty of only a gross misdemeanor. Former 9A.44.130(6) (1990). Now, if the predicate crime is any kind of felony, the crime of failure to register is a class C felony if it is a first or second offense, and a class B felony if the person was convicted twice before for failure to register. RCW 9A.44.132(b).

The <u>Ward</u> court also concluded that the provisions of the Act allowing law enforcement agencies to disseminate information about offenders to the public did not impose any additional burdens because criminal justice agencies already had authority to release criminal conviction records without restriction. 123 Wn.2d at 501. The court reasoned, "[i]t is only where the criminal history record contains non-conviction data, or where the criminal justice agency discloses that the person is a registered sex offender, that dissemination will have the potential for creating an additional restraint." <u>Id</u>.

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