. 69621-1

69621-1

NO. 69621-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

CHRISTOPHER M. SMITH,

Appellant.



BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

JOHN J. JUHL Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

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

III. ARGUMENT

Defendant argues that the sex offender registration and notification statute violates the ex post facto clauses of the United States and Washington Constitutions because the statute retroactively imposes punishment.

The ex post facto clauses of the United States and Washington Constitutions forbid the State from enacting any law that imposes punishment for an act that was not punishable when committed or that inflicts a greater punishment than could have been imposed at the time the crime was committed. State v. Ward, 123 Wn.2d 488, 496, 869 P.2d 1062 (1994). The ex post facto analysis is essentially the same in Washington as under the federal constitution. State v. Edwards, 104 Wn.2d 63, 70, 701 P.2d 508 (1985); State v. Enquist, 163 Wn. App. 41, 45, 256 P.3d 1277 (2011) review denied, 173 Wn.2d 1008, 268 P.3d 941 (2012). A law violates ex post facto principles if it (1) is substantive, rather than merely procedural; (2) is retrospective, applying to events that occurred before the law's enactment; and (3) disadvantages the Ward, 123 Wn.2d at 498. person affected by it. A law "disadvantages" a defendant only if it enhances the punishment that existed under the prior law. Ward, 123 Wn.2d at 498.

.

.

Constitutional issues are reviewed de novo. <u>Enquist</u>, 163 Wn. App. at 45. The party challenging a statute has the burden of proving that it is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State</u> <u>v. Heckel</u>, 143 Wn.2d 824, 832, 24 P.3d 404, <u>cert. denied</u>, 534 U.S. 997, 122 S.Ct. 467, 151 L.Ed.2d 383 (2001); <u>Enquist</u>, 163 Wn. App.

at 45-46; <u>see also</u>, <u>State v. Rice</u>, 159 Wn. App. 545, 561 n. 10, 246 P.3d 234, (2011) (discussing the meaning and application of the beyond a reasonable doubt standard in challenges to the constitutionality of a statute) <u>aff'd on other grounds</u>, 174 Wn.2d 884, 279 P.3d 849 (2012).

.

.

A convicted sex offender must register at the time of release and again within 3 business days of release at the sheriff's office in the county of his residence. RCW 9A.44.130(1)(a), (3)(a)(i).² A registrant must provide (1) name and any aliases, (2) complete and accurate residential address or, if the person lacks a fixed residence, where he plans to stay, (3) date and place of birth, (4) place of employment, (5) crime for which convicted, (6) date and place of conviction, (7) social security number, (8) photograph, and (9) fingerprints. RCW 9A.44.130(2)(a).

A registrant with a fixed residence must provide written notice by certified mail of his intra-county address change within 3 business days of a move. RCW 9A.44.130(4)(a). If a registrant with a fixed residence moves to another county he must (1) register with the new county sheriff within 3 business days of moving and

² The changes to the statutes under Laws 2011, ch. 337, § 3, (effective July 22, 2011) are not applicable to defendant's requirement to register.

(2) provide written notice by certified mail to the county sheriff with whom he formerly registered within 3 business days of moving. RCW 9A.44.130(4)(b).

300 ₁₀ - 000

A registrant who lacks a fixed residence must provide signed written notice to the sheriff of the county where he last registered within 3 business days of ceasing to have a fixed residence. RCW 9A.44.130(5)(a). The person shall report weekly, in person, during normal business hours, on a day specified by the county sheriff's office, to the sheriff of the county where he is registered. The registrant must keep an accurate accounting of where he stays during the week and provide it to the county sheriff upon request. RCW 9A.44.130(5)(b).

In <u>Ward</u> the Court rejected the argument that retroactive requirement for registration of sex offenders under the Community Protection Act violated the ex post facto clause of the state and federal constitutions. <u>Ward</u>, 123 Wn.2d at 511; <u>see also</u>, <u>Russell v</u>. <u>Gregoire</u>, 124 F.3d 1079, 1089 (9th Cir. 1997) (holding that the Community Protection Act does not violate the ex post facto clause of the state and federal constitutions). The Court held that the registration requirement did not constitute a punishment. <u>Ward</u>, 123 Wn.2d at 511. The Court noted that the legislature's statement

of intent was an expression of regulatory intent rather that a punitive one. <u>Ward</u>, 123 Wn.2d at 499 ("[T]he Legislature unequivocally stated that the State's policy is to 'assist local law enforcement agencies' efforts to protect their communities by regulating sex offenders by requiring sex offenders to register with local law enforcement agencies as provided in [RCW 9A.44.130].") <u>quoting</u> Laws 1990, ch. 3, § 401.

•

.

The Court in <u>Ward</u> used the <u>Mendoza-Martinez</u>³ factors in concluding that the registration statute was not punitive. Those four characteristics have not significantly changed. First, registration does not overly burden or restrain offenders because it requires that they provide limited information to law enforcement and it does not significantly limit their movement or activities. <u>Ward</u>, 123 Wn.2d at 500–507. Under the current statute the registrant is required to provide essentially the same information. Sex offenders are still free to move within their community or from one community to another, so long as they comply with the statute's registration requirements. Ward, 123 Wn.2d at 501.

³ <u>Kennedy v. Mendoza-Martinez</u>, 372 U.S. 144, 83 S.Ct. 554, 9 L.Ed.2d 644 (1963).

Second, registration has not been historically regarded as punishment. <u>Ward</u>, 123 Wn.2d at 507–508. In the nineteen years since <u>Ward</u> registration has not been regarded as punishment. In 2011 Division Two found that the transient registrant requirements were not punitive under the reasons articulated in <u>Ward</u>. <u>State v</u>. <u>Enquist</u>, 163 Wn. App. at 49 (holding that defendant failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the transient registration provision violates the ex post facto clauses of the United States and Washington Constitutions).

.

.

Third, registration is not primarily designed to deter future crime, which is a traditional purpose of punishment, it is designed to aid law enforcement agencies' efforts to protect communities by providing increased access to necessary and relevant information. <u>Ward</u>, 123 Wn.2d at 508. The current statute is still designed to aid law enforcement agencies' efforts to protect communities by providing increased access to necessary and relevant information. The fact that a prior sex offense conviction is an element of "failure to register" is of no consequence; the crime of failing to register constitutes a separate offense. "It is hornbook law that no ex post facto problem occurs when the legislature creates a new offense that includes a prior conviction as an element of the offense, as

long as the other relevant conduct took place after the law was passed." Russell v. Gregoire, 124 F.3d at 1088-1089.

Fourth, registration is not excessive in relation to the important community interest served by having law enforcement know the presence and location of sex offenders in the community. <u>Ward</u>, 123 Wn.2d at 508–510. Registration still serves this important community interest.

The Ninth Circuit specifically considered the notification portion of the Community Protection Act. <u>Russell v. Gregoire</u>, 124 F.3d at 1089-1093. States may publish names, pictures, and other information about convicted sex offenders on the Internet without providing each offender a prior hearing to determine current dangerousness. <u>Connecticut Dep't of Pub. Safety v. Doe</u>, 538 U.S. 1, 7-8, 123 S. Ct. 1160, 1164-1165, 155 L. Ed. 2d 98 (2003). The Ninth Circuit concluded that the notification provisions were intended to be regulatory and not punitive. <u>Id.</u> at 1093. The court held as a matter of law:

[T]he possible effects of the notification provision are not so punitive in fact as to prevent us from legitimately viewing the Act as regulatory in nature. Even less do the possible effects amount to "the clearest proof" of a punitive effect sufficient to overcome the legislature's nonpunitive intent. This is especially so given the strong remedial goals of the notification provision. The notification provisions of the Act do not amount to punishment subject to the Ex Post Facto Clause.

Russell v. Gregoire, 124 F.3d at 1093.

٠

. .

In the present case, defendant fails to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the sex offender registration and community notification provisions of the Community Protection Act violate the ex post facto clauses of the United States and Washington Constitutions.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, defendant's appeal should be denied and his convictions affirmed.